# Links between natural environments and mental health

October 2022

Natural England Evidence Information Note EIN065

Dr Helen Seers, Dr Rabya Mughal and Professor Helen Chatterjee, National Academy for Social Prescribing, UK.



### **Foreword**

Natural England commission a range of reports from external contractors to provide evidence and advice to assist us in delivering our duties. The views in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of Natural England.

## **Contents**

Purpose of Briefing	3
Extent of the issue	3
Summary statement4	4
Review of the evidence	5
What are the impacts of activity or time spent in natural environments on mental health?	
What are the impacts of living near natural environments on mental health?	
What is the impact of the type or quality of natural environment on mental health?	7
Do the mental health impacts of natural environments vary between different groups of people?	7
Do natural environments have an impact on mental health related health inequalities?	3
What are the outcomes of mental health interventions using or taking place in natural environments?	3
Evidence from nature contact or exposure studies	3
Evidence from connection to nature studies	9
What is the cost effectiveness of interventions?	9
Implications for policy, service delivery and research10	)
Policy and service delivery10	)
Research gaps10	)
References12	2
Glossary19	9

## **Purpose of Briefing**

This briefing note is one of a series that summarises evidence of the links between the natural environment and a range of outcomes. They are based on rapid reviews, not systematic reviews. Please refer to the Methodology (EIN069) document for further details on the method and search strategy. They build on the evidence but are not comprehensive and should be read together with the original notes:

- EIN015 Connection to Nature
- EIN018 Links between natural environments and mental health
- EIN019 Links between natural environments and physical activity
- EIN020 Links between natural environments and physiological health
- EIN021 Links between natural environments and obesity

This briefing focuses on the links between the natural environments and mental health. This is an update of EIN018 (2016): Dr Rebecca Lovell, University of Exeter. The notes are aimed at: policy makers, practitioners, practice enablers (including Natural England), local decision makers, and the wider research community. They highlight some of the implications for future policy, service delivery and research. It is intended that this note will help to inform practitioner planning, targeting and rationales, but not the identification of solutions or the design of interventions. Barriers to access or use of natural environments are not considered in this note. The notes consider evidence of specific relevance to the UK and outcomes for both adults and children. Please see EIN069 for methodology and glossary. Words marked with an asterisk are defined in the glossary.

### **Extent of the issue**

Poor mental health\* remains the leading cause of disability in the UK¹ with population rates continuously increasing.² Poor mental health is a contributory factor in poor physical health, difficulties in maintaining relationships, and acts as a barrier to full participation in education and the workplace. The Mental Health Foundation reports that 1 in 4 people in England will experience a mental health problem in any given year.² Fifty percent of long-term mental health problems are established by age 14, and 75 percent by age 24³ and are usually lifelong conditions. The costs of mental health problems to the UK economy are estimated to amount to £70-£100 billion each year, around 4.5 percent of the UK GDP.⁴ Anyone can have mental illness, but the evidence suggests some groups are more likely to experience these than others, this includes people who identify as LGBTIQ+,⁵ some minority ethnic groups² and young women aged 16-24.² In the UK, the percentage of adults with depression doubled during the Covid-19 pandemic with rates increasing from 9.7% in March 2020, to 19.2% by June 2020.6

Evidence suggests that positive mental health is intrinsically related to access to green and blue space\*. A higher level of deprivation is correlated to lesser access to outdoor space. In England, one in eight people do not have access to a garden and Black

people are four times more likely to have no access to outdoor garden space at home, whether it be a private or shared garden, a patio or a balcony (37% compared to 10%).<sup>10</sup>

# **Summary statement**

There is now a large body of research evidence reporting the benefits of the natural environment on mental health. <sup>11</sup> Much of this data looks at exposure to nature (i.e. proximity, time spent in nature, and quality of nature) and its impact on health. In addition, a new, emerging evidence base looks at the benefits of connection to nature\* which can be defined as "a measurable psychological construct that moves beyond contact with nature to an individual's sense of their relationship with the natural world". <sup>12</sup> The evidence presented in this summary about mental health is mostly derived from nature *exposure* rather than nature *connection* – although the two concepts do tend to become conflated within the literature. For more evidence on the benefits of connection to nature please see FINO68

Human wellbeing\* and the natural environment are thought to be intrinsically linked. The increase in urbanisation of living environments is changing the relationship people have with nature in terms of reducing the likelihood of exposure (proximity or time spent in nature) or impacting feelings of connection to nature.<sup>7</sup> There is a growing, robust body of evidence<sup>11</sup> which shows a positive association between a) population level exposure to natural environments and b) individual use of natural environments, alongside a variety of positive mental health outcomes (e.g., perception of wellbeing and mood). Impacts appear to differ according to socio-economic status (SES) and access to nature. Several recent scoping\* and systematic reviews\* show that interventions\* which make use of natural environments as settings for mental health promotion or therapy deliver positive outcomes.

Evidence also indicates that nature-based interventions for mental health are cost effective. Whilst there is an increasing amount of robust research, where confounding factors are controlled for, some of the existing evidence comes from studies which may be subject to certain types of bias. Within these studies it is difficult to tell whether exposure to natural environments causes better mental health outcomes, or whether people with better mental health tend to visit nature more often or live in greener areas.

The impact of nature-based interventions on mental health for people from deprived communities needs to be systematically and longitudinally\* studied. This is especially relevant in the context of Covid-19 and challenges to the cost of living impacting those that are most vulnerable in our society.

The below evidence base examined in this evidence briefing is occasionally contradictory and varies according to the nature of exposure assumed and population in which it is assessed. The evidence for most of the outcomes included in this briefing is indicative of a relationship; the types of studies used to investigate the relationships are not suitable to help us understand causal\* linkages, instead we find indicative associations\*. Pathways between an exposure (e.g., living near natural environments) and outcome (e.g., mental

wellbeing) are complex and likely to be affected by many factors (including lifestyle), without more robust studies it is difficult to identify exactly what role natural environments have in leading to improved mental health outcomes.

### Review of the evidence

# What are the impacts of activity or time spent in natural environments on mental health?

Most studies (for both adults and children/ young people) show that spending time in or being active in natural environments is associated with positive outcomes for mental health, stress, mood disorders and psycho-social wellbeing .<sup>13–15</sup> Literature looking at the impact of the natural environment on children's mental health also show positive results.<sup>16,17</sup> Research is beginning to develop theoretical models and mechanisms of the impacts of the natural environment on mental health.<sup>18</sup>

- Using data from the Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment (MENE) Survey (2014-16) modelling<sup>19</sup> has shown that spending at least 120 minutes a week in nature (either in one long or several shorter visits) was associated with self-reported estimates of good health and wellbeing (however, authors do call for prospective longitudinal studies to confirm this).
- A systematic review<sup>14</sup> of 43 papers looking at the quantitative measures of the impact of nature viewing, outdoor walks, outdoor exercise, and gardening, found reductions in the experience of stress, heart rate and blood pressure.
- A systematic review<sup>13</sup> of blue space interventions for health and wellbeing located 33 studies, and highlighted improvements in mental health and psycho-social wellbeing.
- A study investigating associations between types and quantities of green space and sales of mood disorder medication in Belgium, found that living in green environments (particularly woodland) may be beneficial for adult mental health.<sup>15</sup>
- A cohort\* study <sup>16</sup> based in four European cities looked at childhood exposure to natural outdoor environments in relation to mental health risk. The research found that adults with low levels of childhood nature exposure had, when compared to adults with high levels of childhood nature exposure, significantly worse mental health.
- A longitudinal study with data collected from all children born in New Zealand found that rurality and increased minimum greenness (increasing the smallest amount of exposure to green space) were strongly and independently associated with a reduced risk of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD).<sup>17</sup>

# What are the impacts of living near natural environments on mental health?

Most studies, that have considered relationships at a population level, find greater amounts of natural environment around the home have a protective effect on a broad range of mental health outcomes, including self-reported mental health, and is associated with a reduced risk of stress, tendency to psychiatric morbidity, psychological distress, depressive symptoms, clinical anxiety, depression, and mood disorders in adults.

- A review of 50 case studies looking at the impact of nature-based solutions on health and wellbeing found that people's proximity to natural environments was associated with lower stress and faster recovery from psychological events.<sup>20</sup> This was confirmed by a meta-analysis\*<sup>21</sup> finding that natural environments can lead to reductions in physical measures of stress such as salivary cortisol\*, blood pressure and heart rate.
- A systematic review<sup>22</sup> of the relationship between proximity to green space and the
  mental wellbeing of adults pooled 50 studies. This work found a positive
  association with mental wellbeing (particularly hedonic\* wellbeing, but not
  eudemonic\* wellbeing), however authors note that findings were limited by the
  heterogeneity of the papers.
- A systematic review<sup>23</sup> of 24 longitudinal and cross-sectional studies looking at the
  urban environment's impact on adolescent mental health and wellbeing, found that
  being in green space, and neighbourhood quality, are associated with adolescent
  mental health and wellbeing, although the methodology did not find a causal
  relationship/mechanism.
- A cohort study of children and risk of ADHD showed that those in early childhood with less access to green space had a greater chance of developing this disorder.
- Studies conducted during the Covid-19 pandemic have also found a positive benefit of green space, gardens, allotments, and houseplants, for mental health. A survey from Bulgaria<sup>25</sup> exploring whether greenery experienced indoors and outdoors supported mental health during quarantine periods due to COVID-19, found that houseplants abundance and garden access was associated with better mental health. This was supported by the findings of a UK study looking at the impact of allotments and green space on mental health.<sup>26</sup> Furthermore, a Scottish cohort study<sup>27</sup> found worse mental health outcomes for those living in an urban environment, with no access to outdoor space, or in deprived areas, and those that were younger, female, and/or shielding from Covid-19.

# What is the impact of the type or quality of natural environment on mental health?

There is a small amount of evidence which suggests that engagement with certain types of environments (i.e. coastal, mountain, woodlands) are associated with better mental health.<sup>28,29</sup>

- A scoping review<sup>30</sup> assessing 77 intervention studies found significant effects of gardens and gardening in the context of social prescribing on mental wellbeing, physical activity and reduced social isolation.
- A meta-analysis of 40 studies<sup>31</sup> found that exposure to forest environments was associated with several health benefits including, reduced systolic and diastolic blood pressure, heart rate, sympathetic nervous activity\*, salivary cortisol and increased parasympathetic nervous activity\*.
- A systematic review<sup>32</sup> of the physical and mental health benefits of rambling in nature found empirical evidence of the connections between wildlands and human health.
- A randomised control trial of adults assessing the benefits of 20-minute walks (4 days a week for 3 weeks) in blue spaces, urban space and control sites found benefits of improved wellbeing and mood measures in blue spaces compared to the other sites of walking.<sup>33</sup>
- A study in Belgium looking at type of green exposure (woodland, urban low-green, grassland, and garden) and mood disorder medication levels<sup>15</sup> found that exposure to woodland space may be the most beneficial type of natural environment for mental health support.

# Do the mental health impacts of natural environments vary between different groups of people?

It is important to know how different groups of people are impacted by the natural environment. The findings from the two identified studies are listed below, but more research is needed in this area.

- A longitudinal study<sup>34</sup> of over 35,00 women and 29,000 men in the UK found that green space was associated with better mental health among men in midadulthood, but not women at a similar age.
- A surf therapy intervention<sup>35</sup> was found to have several benefits for adolescents, and a qualitative exploration of this intervention found some potential protective mental health factors.

# Do natural environments have an impact on mental health related health inequalities?

Exposure to or use of natural environments is thought to be related to reduced socioeconomic inequalities in mental health; however more needs to be understood about direction of this relationship and the many confounding and inter-related factors at play.

- A systematic review of World Health Organisation data from Europe found 14 studies and concluded that the most economically deprived countries have less available good quality public green space compared to more affluent countries.<sup>36</sup>
- Public health data<sup>37</sup> from Portugal showed that mean distance to green space increased with neighbourhood deprivation, therefore limiting access.
- The Born in Bradford longitudinal cohort study<sup>38</sup> looked at 4-year-olds' mental wellbeing in relation to availability of green space. This study found that amongst South Asian children, green spaces were associated with fewer behavioural difficulties. The authors state that public health and urban planning need to focus on the quantity and quality of green space access for ethnic minority groups.
- A survey of 2,000 people during Covid-19 lockdown in Scotland<sup>27</sup> found that people in urban, deprived areas with no access to, or sharing residential outside space, had worse mental health distress in response to the pandemic.

# What are the outcomes of mental health interventions using or taking place in natural environments?

There is a growing and strong body<sup>11</sup> of evidence to suggest that using the natural environment as a setting or resource for the prevention or treatment of poor mental health might be effective in treating specific conditions in some groups. Longer term programmes appear to be more effective than short term. Understanding of how and when interventions may be effective is limited due to methodological quality of studies and lack of homogeneity of studies for systematic reviews or meta-analyses to quantify effectiveness. Longitudinal data is also lacking. There are few robust evaluations and existing evidence may be prone to various sources of bias.

## Evidence from nature contact or exposure studies

- A systematic review<sup>39</sup> looking at people's nature connectedness grouped data from 20 studies and concluded that people with a greater sense of connection to nature had greater eudemonic wellbeing and self-reported personal growth.
- A systematic review of 51 studies<sup>40</sup> looking at the mental health benefits of nature recreation found that 90% of the articles reported at least one positive finding, including aspects of affect, cognition, restoration, wellbeing, decreases in anxiety and depression. This was confirmed by another systematic review<sup>41</sup> of 5 studies showing benefit for nature exposure and people with somatic disease.

- Three scoping reviews have found indications of improved mental health due to exposure to natural environments. However, all three<sup>42–44</sup> state that the studies pooled have methodological limitations and heterogeneity, and further research is needed to be conducted to make clearer conclusions.
- A pilot study\*45 of nature-based therapy and eating disorders has shown initial positive results to help people complete their treatment.
- A review<sup>46</sup> found that some emerging evidence exists to show that caregivers for people living with cancer experience benefits from natural environment exposure, although recommended more research is needed to confirm this association.
- A systematic review<sup>47</sup> of evidence for long-term exposure to nature in terms of healthy aging and mental health found limited and inadequate data and called for more longitudinal studies. This was also confirmed by a systematic review<sup>48</sup> of the relationship of green and blue spaces and mental health.

#### Evidence from connection to nature studies

- A survey using data collected from 18 countries from over 16,000 respondents, looked at the benefits of blue and green spaces on wellbeing. Nature connectedness was positively associated with positive wellbeing and negatively associated with mental distress. Green spaces were associated with a lower likelihood of using medication for depression and inland-blue space visits were associated with a lower likelihood of using anxiety medication.<sup>49</sup>
- A Cochrane review of the benefits of nature connection via conservation activities such as The Conservation Volunteers' Green Gym (volunteer nature conservation), showed that exposure to natural environments, achievement, enjoyment and social contact were important pathways to positive mental health outcomes.<sup>50</sup>

#### What is the cost effectiveness of interventions?

The small number of studies that have estimated the economic value associated 'green' interventions for mental health, have typically shown them to be cost effective and to result in savings to society.

- A Social Return on Investment (SROI) study by The Wildlife Trust found that environments rich in wildlife may result in better mental health for people with low wellbeing at baseline. The SROI found a return of – between £4.20 and £11.94 for every £1 invested.<sup>51</sup>
- An evidence review commissioned by Natural England found that SROI analyses for nature-based initiatives for people with mental health issues ranged from £2.35 to £10.70 per £1 invested.<sup>52</sup>
- The 'Ecominds' programme delivered by the charity Mind, provided nature-based health interventions to support mental health to 12,000 people across England. Projects included horticultural and agricultural schemes, walking groups and regeneration projects in local parks. Ecominds was estimated to have resulted in

- savings (through reduced NHS costs, benefits reductions, and increased tax contributions) of around £7,082 per participant.<sup>53</sup> It was estimated the programme would result in savings of £1.46m for 246 people who had found full-time work following participation.
- The Scottish 'Branching Out' programme (where patients with mental health issues are prescribed a series of formally led, woodland activities) found that based for 335 service users per year, the cost per Quality Adjusted Life Year gained (QALY) was £8,600<sup>54</sup> In comparison to the NICE threshold of £20-30,000 per QALY.

# Implications for policy, service delivery and research

### Policy and service delivery

- The strong weight of good evidence that natural spaces, in and around the living environment to promote better mental health, has enabled the recent introduction of green social prescribing in the health and social care system.<sup>55,56</sup>
- As there is now tentative evidence of therapeutic and cost effectiveness, those with responsibility for promoting or treating mental health could explore the potential of developing and trialling evidence-led programmes of non-medical interventions suitable for commissioning. This would perhaps be suitable for patients with mental health conditions who cannot be treated by green social prescribing.
- Planners and developers should be aware that the greening of urban areas could be considered to be a population health intervention which may improve mental health.<sup>57</sup>
- Evidence from the experience of Covid-19 has shown the importance of connection with the natural environment for mental health.<sup>58</sup>
- Nature-based interventions should be offered to those most in need in terms of lack of access to outdoor space.<sup>9,59</sup>

### Research gaps

Whilst environmental interventions targeting mental health appear to be effective, many of the systematic reviews and the studies contained within them do not have enough heterogeneity to confirm clear results, and do not track people over enough time to confirm the long-term effective impacts of nature-based interventions on mental health. Future reviews of environmental mental health interventions should seek to specify effectiveness in relation to health condition, population, intervention, and outcome.

Specifically, there is a need to better understand:

- The impacts of green spaces around the school, workplace and other spaces in which people spend significant proportions of their day.<sup>60</sup>
- The causal pathways and contributory mechanisms linking mental health outcomes to natural environment exposure.
- The cost-effectiveness, variation in any outcomes, and potential to ameliorate or exacerbate health inequalities of natural environment interventions.
- The impact of people from deprived communities' access to nature on their mental health needs to be systematically studied. This is especially relevant in the context of Covid-19 and challenges to the cost of living impacting those who are most vulnerable in society.
- As many interventions are complex and often part of wider programmes of activity, evaluators should consider applying the principles of the Medical Research Council's 'Complex Intervention Guidance' (a new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions) to better define interventions and understand process and outcomes.<sup>61</sup>

### References

- 1. NHSE. NHS England and NHS Improvement. *Adult and older adult mental health*. Available at: <a href="https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults">https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults</a> (Accessed June 2022)
- 2. McManus S BPJRBT (eds.). *Mental Health and Wellbeing in England: Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014.*; 2016: <a href="https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment-data/file/556596/apms-2014-full-rpt.pdf">https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment-data/file/556596/apms-2014-full-rpt.pdf</a>. (Accessed June 2022)
- 3. Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Archives of general psychiatry*, *62*(6), 593-602. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593
- 4. Department of Health. Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer 2013: Public Mental Health Priorities: Investing in the Evidence. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officer-cmo-annual-report-public-mental-health">https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officer-cmo-annual-report-public-mental-health</a>. (Accessed June 2022)
- 5. Elliott, M. N., Kanouse, D. E., Burkhart, Q., Abel, G. A., Lyratzopoulos, G., Beckett, M. K., Schuster, M. A. & Roland, M. (2015). Sexual minorities in England have poorer health and worse health care experiences: a national survey. *Journal of general internal medicine*, *30*(1), 9-16. doi:10.1007/s11606-014-2905-y
- 6. Office for National Statistics. *Coronavirus and depression in adults, Great Britain*:
  June 2020. Available at:
  <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/coronavirusanddepressioninadultsgreatbritain/june2020">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/coronavirusanddepressioninadultsgreatbritain/june2020</a> (Accessed June 2022)
- 7. Díaz, S., Pascual, U., Stenseke, M., Martín-López, B., Watson, R. T., Molnár, Z., Hill, R., Chan, K. M., Baste, I. A., Brauman, K. A., Polasky, S., Church, A., Lonsdale, M., Larigauderie, A., Leadley, P. W., Van Oudenhoven, A. P., Van Der Platt, F., Schröter, M., Lavorel, S., Aumeeruddy-Thomas, Y., Bukvareva, E., Davies, K., Demissew, K., Erpul.G., Failler, P., Guerra, C. A., Hewitt, C. I., Keune, K., Lindley, S., & Shirayama, Y. (2018). Assessing nature's contributions to people. *Science*, *359*(6373), 270-272. doi:10.1126/science.aap8826
- 8. UK Government. *Improving access to green space 2020 review*. Available at: <a href="https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/904439/Improving\_access\_to\_green\_space\_2020\_review.pdf">https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/904439/Improving\_access\_to\_green\_space\_2020\_review.pdf</a> (Accessed June 2022)
- 9. Holland F. Out of Bounds Equity in Access to Urban Nature.

  <a href="https://www.groundwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Out-of-Bounds-equity-in-access-to-urban-nature.pdf">https://www.groundwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Out-of-Bounds-equity-in-access-to-urban-nature.pdf</a> (Accessed June 2022).
- 10. Office for National Statistics. *One in eight British households has no garden.*Available at:

- https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhouseholdshasnogarden/2020-05-14. (Accessed June 2022)
- 11. University of Exeter. What Works briefing on natural environment based health interventions. Available at: <a href="https://www.outdoor-learning-research.org/Site-Admin/Research-Hub-Meetings/ArtMID/585/ArticleID/63/What-Works-briefing-on-natural-environment-based-health-interventions">https://www.outdoor-learning-research.org/Site-Admin/Research-Hub-Meetings/ArtMID/585/ArticleID/63/What-Works-briefing-on-natural-environment-based-health-interventions</a> (Accessed June 2022)
- 12. University of Derby. *Nature Connectedness Research Group*. Available at: <a href="https://www.derby.ac.uk/research/centres-groups/nature-connectedness-research-group/">https://www.derby.ac.uk/research/centres-groups/nature-connectedness-research-group/</a>. (Accessed June 2022)
- 13. Britton, E., Kindermann, G., Domegan, C., & Carlin, C. (2020). Blue care: A systematic review of blue space interventions for health and wellbeing. *Health promotion international*, 35(1), 50-69. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30561661/
- 14. Kondo, M. C., Jacoby, S. F., & South, E. C. (2018). Does spending time outdoors reduce stress? A review of real-time stress response to outdoor environments. *Health & place*, *51*, 136-150.
- 15. Aerts, R., Vanlessen, N., Dujardin, S., Nemery, B., Van Nieuwenhuyse, A., Bauwelinck, M., Casas, L., Demoury, C., Plusquin, M. & Nawrot, T. S. (2022). Residential green space and mental health-related prescription medication sales: an ecological study in Belgium. *Environmental Research*, *211*, 113056. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35248565/
- 16. Preuß, M., Nieuwenhuijsen, M., Marquez, S., Cirach, M., Dadvand, P., Triguero-Mas, M., Gidlow, C., Grazuleviciene, R., Kruize, H. & Zijlema, W. (2019). Low childhood nature exposure is associated with worse mental health in adulthood. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 16(10), 1809. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31121806/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31121806/</a>
- 17. Donovan, G. H., Michael, Y. L., Gatziolis, D., Mannetje, A. T., & Douwes, J. (2019). Association between exposure to the natural environment, rurality, and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in children in New Zealand: a linkage study. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, *3*(5), e226-e234. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31128768/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31128768/</a>
- 18. Bratman, G. N., Anderson, C. B., Berman, M. G., Cochran, B., De Vries, S., Flanders, J., Folke, C., Frumkin, H., Gross, J. J., Hartig, T., Kahn, P. H., Kuo, M., Lawler, J. J., Levin, P. S. Lindahl, T., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Mitchell, R., Ouyang, Z., Roe, J., Smith, J. R., van den Bosch, M., Wheeler, B. W., White, M. P., Zheng, H. & Daily, G. C. (2019). Nature and mental health: An ecosystem service perspective. *Science advances*, *5*(7), eaax0903. doi:10.1126/sciadv.aax0903
- 19. White, M. P., Alcock, I., Grellier, J., Wheeler, B. W., Hartig, T., Warber, S. L., Bone, A., Depledge, M. H., & Fleming, L. E. (2019). Spending at least 120 minutes a week

- in nature is associated with good health and wellbeing. *Scientific reports*, *9*(1), 1-11. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-44097-3
- 20. Kolokotsa, D., Lilli, A. A., Lilli, M. A., & Nikolaidis, N. P. (2020). On the impact of nature-based solutions on citizens' health & well being. *Energy and Buildings*, 229, 110527.
- 21. Yao, W., Zhang, X., & Gong, Q. (2021). The effect of exposure to the natural environment on stress reduction: A meta-analysis. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, *57*, 126932.
- 22. Houlden, V., Weich, S., Porto de Albuquerque, J., Jarvis, S., & Rees, K. (2018). The relationship between greenspace and the mental wellbeing of adults: A systematic review. *PloS one*, *13*(9), e0203000. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30208073/
- 23. Fleckney, P., & Bentley, R. (2021). The urban public realm and adolescent mental health and wellbeing: A systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine*, *284*, 114242. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33157110/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33157110/</a>
- 24. Thygesen, M., Engemann, K., Holst, G. J., Hansen, B., Geels, C., Brandt, J., Pedersen, C. B., & Dalsgaard, S. (2020). The association between residential green space in childhood and development of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a population-based cohort study. *Environmental health perspectives*, *128*(12), 127011. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33351671/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33351671/</a>
- Dzhambov, A. M., Lercher, P., Browning, M. H., Stoyanov, D., Petrova, N., Novakov, S., & Dimitrova, D. D. (2021). Does greenery experienced indoors and outdoors provide an escape and support mental health during the COVID-19 quarantine?. *Environmental Research*, 196, 110420. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33157110/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33157110/</a>
- 26. Robinson, J. M., Brindley, P., Cameron, R., MacCarthy, D., & Jorgensen, A. (2021). Nature's role in supporting health during the COVID-19 pandemic: A geospatial and socioecological study. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18(5), 2227. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33668228/
- 27. Hubbard, G., Daas, C. D., Johnston, M., Murchie, P., Thompson, C. W., & Dixon, D. (2021). Are rurality, area deprivation, access to outside space, and green space associated with mental health during the covid-19 pandemic? A cross sectional study (charis-e). *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(8), 3869. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33917067/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33917067/</a>
- 28. Dean, J., van Dooren, K., & Weinstein, P. (2011). Does biodiversity improve mental health in urban settings?. *Medical hypotheses*, *76*(6), 877-880. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2011.02.040
- 29. Lovell, R., Wheeler, B. W., Higgins, S. L., Irvine, K. N., & Depledge, M. H. (2014). A systematic review of the health and well-being benefits of biodiverse

- environments. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part B*, 17(1), 1-20. doi:10.1080/10937404.2013.856361
- 30. Howarth, M., Brettle, A., Hardman, M., & Maden, M. (2020). What is the evidence for the impact of gardens and gardening on health and well-being: a scoping review and evidence-based logic model to guide healthcare strategy decision making on the use of gardening approaches as a social prescription. *BMJ open*, *10*(7), e036923. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32690529/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32690529/</a>
- 31. Cheng, X., Liu, J., Liu, H., & Lu, S. (2021). A systematic review of evidence of additional health benefits from forest exposure. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 212, 104123. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104123">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104123</a>
- 32. Thomsen, J. M., Powell, R. B., & Monz, C. (2018). A systematic review of the physical and mental health benefits of wildland recreation. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 36(1). https://doi.org/10.18666/JPRA-2018-V36-I1-8095
- 33. Vert, C., Gascon, M., Ranzani, O., Márquez, S., Triguero-Mas, M., Carrasco-Turigas, G., Arjona L., Koch, S., Llopis, M., Donaire-Gonzalez, D., Elliot, L. R., & Nieuwenhuijsen, M. (2020). Physical and mental health effects of repeated short walks in a blue space environment: A randomised crossover study. *Environmental Research*, *188*, 109812. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32590148/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32590148/</a>
- 34. Astell-Burt, T., Mitchell, R., & Hartig, T. (2014). The association between green space and mental health varies across the lifecourse. A longitudinal study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, *68*(6), 578-583. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24604596/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24604596/</a>
- 35. Drake, C. J., Keith, M., Dober, M. R., Evans, S., & Olive, L. S. (2021). A qualitative investigation into the perceived therapeutic benefits and barriers of a surf therapy intervention for youth mental health. *Complementary therapies in medicine*, *59*, 102713. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33757830/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33757830/</a>
- 36. Schüle, S. A., Hilz, L. K., Dreger, S., & Bolte, G. (2019). Social inequalities in environmental resources of green and blue spaces: A review of evidence in the WHO European region. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *16*(7), 1216. doi:10.3390/ijerph16071216
- 37. Hoffimann, E., Barros, H., & Ribeiro, A. I. (2017). Socioeconomic inequalities in green space quality and accessibility—Evidence from a Southern European city. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *14*(8), 916. doi:10.3390/ijerph14080916
- 38. McEachan, R. R., Yang, T. C., Roberts, H., Pickett, K. E., Arseneau-Powell, D., Gidlow, C. J., Wright, J. & Nieuwenhuijsen, M. (2018). Availability, use of, and satisfaction with green space, and children's mental wellbeing at age 4 years in a multicultural, deprived, urban area: results from the Born in Bradford cohort

- study. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 2(6), e244-e254. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29880156/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29880156/</a>
- 39. Pritchard, A., Richardson, M., Sheffield, D., & McEwan, K. (2020). The relationship between nature connectedness and eudaimonic well-being: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *21*(3), 1145-1167. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-019-00118-">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-019-00118-</a>
- Lackey, N. Q., Tysor, D. A., McNay, G. D., Joyner, L., Baker, K. H., & Hodge, C. (2021). Mental health benefits of nature-based recreation: a systematic review. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 24(3), 379-393.https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2019.1655459
- 41. Trøstrup, C. H., Christiansen, A. B., Stølen, K. S., Nielsen, P. K., & Stelter, R. (2019). The effect of nature exposure on the mental health of patients: A systematic review. *Quality of Life Research*, *28*(7), 1695-1703. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30746588/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30746588/</a>
- 42. Wendelboe-Nelson, C., Kelly, S., Kennedy, M., & Cherrie, J. W. (2019). A scoping review mapping research on green space and associated mental health benefits. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(12), 2081. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31212860/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31212860/</a>
- 43. Wilkie, S., & Davinson, N. (2021). Prevalence and effectiveness of nature-based interventions to impact adult health-related behaviours and outcomes: A scoping review. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *214*, 104166. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104166">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104166</a>
- 44. Xie, Q., Lee, C., Lu, Z., & Yuan, X. (2021). Interactions with artificial water features: a scoping review of health-related outcomes. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *215*, 104191. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104191
- 45. Corazon, S. S., Sidenius, U., Vammen, K. S., Klinker, S. E., Stigsdotter, U. K., & Poulsen, D. V. (2018). The tree is my anchor: A pilot study on the treatment of BED through nature-based therapy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(11), 2486. doi:10.3390/ijerph15112486
- 46. Lehto, R. H., Wyatt, G., Sender, J., & Miller, S. E. (2021). An Evaluation of Natural Environment Interventions for Informal Cancer Caregivers in the Community. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18(21), 11124. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34769643/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34769643/</a>
- 47. de Keijzer, C., Bauwelinck, M., & Dadvand, P. (2020). Long-term exposure to residential greenspace and healthy ageing: A systematic review. *Current environmental health reports*, 7(1), 65-88. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-020-00264-7">https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-020-00264-7</a>

- 48. Geneshka, M., Coventry, P., Cruz, J., & Gilbody, S. (2021). Relationship between Green and Blue Spaces with Mental and Physical Health: A Systematic Review of Longitudinal Observational Studies. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18(17), 9010. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34501598/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34501598/</a>
- 49. White, M. P., Elliott, L. R., Grellier, J., Economou, T., Bell, S., Bratman, G. N., Cirach, M., Gascon, M., Lima, M. L., Lõhmus, M., Nieuwenhuijsen, M., Roiko, A., Shultz, P. W., van den Bosch, M. & Fleming, L. E. (2021). Associations between green/blue spaces and mental health across 18 countries. *Scientific reports*, *11*(1), 1-12. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-87675-0
- 50. Lovell, R., Husk, K., Cooper, C., Stahl-Timmins, W., & Garside, R. (2015). Understanding how environmental enhancement and conservation activities may benefit health and wellbeing: a systematic review. *BMC public health*, *15*(1), 1-18. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2214-3
- 51. Bagnall, A. M., & Brymer, E. (2019). Social return on investment analysis of the health and wellbeing impacts of Wildlife Trust programmes. Available at: <a href="https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/sites/default/files/2019-09/SROI%20Report%20FINAL%20-%20DIGITAL.pdf">https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/sites/default/files/2019-09/SROI%20Report%20FINAL%20-%20DIGITAL.pdf</a> (Accessed June 2022).
- 52. Bragg, R., & Leck, C. (2017). Good practice in social prescribing for mental health: The role of nature-based interventions. *Natural England commissioned reports*, 228. Available at: <a href="http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5134438692814848">http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5134438692814848</a>. (Accessed June 2022)
- 53. Vardakoulias, O. (2013). The economic benefits of ecominds: A case study approach. NEF Consulting. Available at: <a href="https://www.mind.org.uk/media-a/4424/the-economic-benefits-of-ecominds-report.pdf">https://www.mind.org.uk/media-a/4424/the-economic-benefits-of-ecominds-report.pdf</a>. (Accessed June 2022)
- 54. Wilson, N., Fleming, S., Jones, R., Lafferty, K., Cathrine, K., Seaman, P., & Knifton, L. (2010). Green shoots of recovery: The impact of a mental health ecotherapy programme. *Mental Health Review Journal*. doi:10.5042/mhrj.2010.0366
- 55. NHS England. *Green social prescribing*. Available at: <a href="https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/social-prescribing/green-social-prescribing/">https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/social-prescribing/green-social-prescribing/</a>. (Accessed June 2022)
- 56. Therapeutic Nature: Nature-based social prescribing for diagnosed mental health conditions in the UK Defra (Defra Project Code BE0155) and are available from the Department's Science and Research Projects Database at. <a href="http://randd.defra.gov.uk">http://randd.defra.gov.uk</a>.
- 57. Sonntag-Öström, E., Stenlund, T., Nordin, M., Lundell, Y., Ahlgren, C., Fjellman-Wiklund, A., Järvholm, L. S. & Dolling, A. (2015). "Nature's effect on my mind"—Patients' qualitative experiences of a forest-based rehabilitation programme. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, *14*(3), 607-614. doi:10.1016/j.ufug.2015.06.002

- 58. The Wildlife Trusts. *A Wilder Recovery How to Build Back Smarter, Stronger, Greener.*; 2021: Available at: <a href="https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/sites/default/files/2021-05/Green%20Recovery%20report%20%28low%20res%29.pdf">https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/sites/default/files/2021-05/Green%20Recovery%20report%20%28low%20res%29.pdf</a>. (Accessed June 2022)
- 59. Armstrong A, BB, ET, LA, OL, WS. *Why Society Needs Nature: Lessons from Research during Covid-19.*; 2021: <a href="https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/research/why-society-needs-nature-lessons-from-research-during-covid-19/">https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/research/why-society-needs-nature-lessons-from-research-during-covid-19/</a>
- 60. Gascon, M., Triguero-Mas, M., Martínez, D., Dadvand, P., Forns, J., Plasència, A., & Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. (2015). Mental health benefits of long-term exposure to residential green and blue spaces: a systematic review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 12(4), 4354-4379. doi:10.3390/ijerph120404354
- 61. Craig, P., Dieppe, P., Macintyre, S., Michie, S., Nazareth, I., & Petticrew, M. (2008). Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. *Bmj*, 337. doi:10.1136/bmj.a1655

# **Glossary**

#### Please see EIN069 for a full glossary

Association(s) See Correlation.

Blue space Outdoor environments—either natural or manmade—that

prominently feature water and are accessible to people,

e.g., the collective term for rivers, lakes or the sea.

Causal, causality, causation When something has an actual effect on something

else- and is not simply correlated with it.

Cohort studies are a type of longitudinal study—an

approach that follows research participants over a period

of time (often many years).

Connection to nature The term 'connection to nature' is frequently used to

describe our enduring relationship with nature, including emotions, attitudes and behaviour. Research shows that people with a greater connection to nature are more likely to behave positively towards the environment,

wildlife and habitats.

Cortisol A stress hormone.

Eudemonia/ Eudemonic Eudemonic wellbeing refers to the type of happiness or

contentment that is achieved through self-actualisation

and having meaningful purpose in one's life.

Green space Green space refers to land that is partly or completely

covered with grass, trees, shrubs, or other vegetation. Green space includes parks, community gardens, and

cemeteries.

Hedonic wellbeing Hedonic wellbeing is based on the notion that increased

pleasure and decreased pain leads to happiness.

Hedonic concepts are based on the notion of subjective wellbeing. Subjective well-being is a scientific term that is commonly used to denote the 'happy or good life'.

Intervention An external variable that comes between someone and

an outcome, that changes someone's eventual outcome

as a result.

Longitudinal A long-term study in which as Cohort is visited at

different time points to get a long-term understanding of

an effect.

Page 19 of 21 Links between natural environments and mental health: evidence briefing. EIN065.

Mental health Mental health includes our emotional, psychological, and

social well-being. It affects how we think, feel, and act. It also helps determine how we handle stress, relate to others, and make choices. Mental health is important at every stage of life, from childhood and adolescence

through adulthood.

Meta-analysis is a research process used to

systematically synthesise or merge the findings of single, independent studies, using statistical methods to

calculate an overall or 'absolute' effect.

Parasympathetic nervous activity The parasympathetic nervous system predominates in

quiet "rest and digest" conditions while the sympathetic nervous system drives the "fight or flight" response in stressful situations. The main purpose of the PNS is to conserve energy to be used later and to regulate bodily

functions like digestion and urination.

Pilot study, also called a 'feasibility' study, is a small-

scale preliminary study conducted before any largescale quantitative research in order to evaluate the

potential for a future, full-scale project.

Scoping review A review that is less rigorous than a Systematic review

or Meta-analysis.

Sympathetic nervous activity The sympathetic nervous system directs the body's

rapid involuntary response to dangerous or stressful situations. A flash flood of hormones boosts the body's alertness and heart rate, sending extra blood to the

muscles.

Systematic review A systematic review is a summary of all of the literature

on a particular topic, that meets pre-defined eligibility

criteria.

Wellbeing The extent to which a person is in a state of being

comfortable, healthy or happy.

### **About Natural England**

Natural England is here to secure a healthy natural environment for people to enjoy, where wildlife is protected and England's traditional landscapes are safeguarded for future generations.

#### **Further Information**

This report can be downloaded from the <u>Natural England Access to Evidence Catalogue</u>. For information on Natural England publications or if you require an alternative format, please contact the Natural England Enquiry Service on 0300 060 3900 or email <u>enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk</u>.

#### Citation

This Evidence Note should be cited as:

Seers, H., Mughal, R., and Chatterjee, H. 2022. *Links between natural environments and mental health: evidence briefing.* EIN065. Natural England.

### Copyright

This publication is published by Natural England under the <u>Open Government Licence</u> <u>v3.0</u> for public sector information. You are encouraged to use, and reuse, information subject to certain conditions.

Natural England images and photographs are only available for non-commercial purposes. If any other photographs, images, or information such as maps, or data cannot be used commercially this will be made clear within the report.

For information regarding the use of maps or data see our guidance on <u>how to access</u> <u>Natural England's maps and data</u>.

© Natural England 2022

Catalogue code: EIN065

